No. 71545-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TERESA REED-JENNINGS and CLIFF JENNINGS, Wife and Husband and their marital community,

Appellants,

v.

THE BASEBALL CLUB OF SEATTLE, L.P., a Washington Corporation, d/b/a THE SEATTLE MARINERS,

Respondent.



Thomas M. Geisness, WSBA #1878 Peter T. Geisness, WSBA #30897 Max J. Pangborn, WSBA #45555 811 First Avenue, Suite 300 Seattle, Washington 98104 Phone: 206-728-8866

On behalf of Appellants Teresa Reed-Jennings and Cliff Jennings

A. INTRODUCTION

Appellants, Teresa Reed-Jennings and Cliff Jennings (hereinafter "the Jennings"), appeal a grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent, the Baseball Club of Seattle, L.P. (hereinafter "the Mariners"), in King County Superior Court. The Superior Court's grant of summary judgment was based on a finding that the Jennings' claim was barred by the doctrine of primary implied assumption of risk. Here, the Jennings, by and through counsel, argue that summary judgment should have been denied and request this Court reverse the trial court's ruling.

The trial court's ruling should be reversed because the record presents genuine issues of material fact regarding the Mariners breach of its duty to exercise reasonable care commensurate with the circumstances of batting practice pursuant to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 and § 343A (1965). In light of sufficient evidence to reach a jury on the issue of the Mariners' negligence, and its contribution to the Jennings' injury, primary implied assumption of risk cannot support a grant of summary judgment as a matter of law. Furthermore, there are genuine issues of material fact regarding the elements necessary to establish that the Jennings impliedly relieved the Mariners of its duty of care.

In support of their claim of negligence, the Jennings cite the opinions of Gil Fried, an expert in sport facility management and baseball.

His testimony and declaration, coupled with the rest of discovery, when viewed in the light most favorable to the Jennings, present a triable issue of fact regarding the negligence of the Mariners' provision of warnings, adequate safeguards, and management of batting practice.

Primary implied assumption of risk, for its part, should be considered a damage mitigating factor. *Scott v. Pacific West Mountain* (1992), decided by the Washington Supreme Court and explained later in this brief, explains the interplay between sufficiency of the evidence and a plaintiff's implied assumption of risk at summary judgment for a sport's related injury.

The following Argument section attempts, firstly, to explain the Mariners' duty of care under a system of comparative fault. Second, the inapplicability of the "limited duty rule," as championed by the Mariners, is explained. Finally, primary implied assumption of risk, and its failure to bar recovery at summary judgment, is addressed.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The King County Superior Court ("trial court") erred in granting the Mariners' Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing the Jennings' complaint as barred by the doctrine of primary implied assumption of risk.

1. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Errors

- A. Did the Trial Court Error in Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment Pursuant to the Doctrine of Primary Implied Assumption of the Risk Where there was Sufficient Evidence for a Reasonable Person to Conclude the Negligence of the Baseball Club of Seattle Caused or Contributed to the Injury Suffered by the Jennings?
- B. Did the Trial Court Error in Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment Pursuant to the Doctrine of Primary Implied Assumption of the Risk Where there was Sufficient Evidence for a Reasonable Person to Conclude Mrs. Reed-Jennings Did Not Subjectively Understand the Nature and Extent of the Risks of Pre-Game Batting Practice?
- C. Did the Trial Court Error in Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment Pursuant to the Doctrine of Primary Implied Assumption of the Risk Where there was Sufficient Evidence for a Reasonable Person to Conclude that the Mariners Enhanced the Risks that are Necessary and Inherent to Pre-Game Batting Practice?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Overview

This case involves an injury suffered by the Jennings during pregame batting practice at Safeco Field on May 4, 2009. CP 2-3. A batted baseball struck Teresa Reed-Jennings in her face while she was tracking the flight of the previously batted ball from her seat along the right field foul line. CP 199, 279-80.

Discovery included: interrogatories; requests for production; the depositions of three members of the Mariners' organization (batting coach; third base coach; and VP of Ballpark Operations); the depositions of Teresa Reed-Jennings and Cliff Jennings; and the deposition of Gil Fried, the Jennings' expert in sport facility management and baseball.

The Mariners filed for summary judgment on December 20, 2013. The motion was opposed and oral argument was heard on January 24, 2014, before Judge Kenneth Schubert.

In its Motion, the Mariners argued that it did not owe a duty of care to the Jennings as a matter of law. The Mariners reached this conclusion by way of two different claims: (1) that it, as a baseball stadium operator, satisfied its limited duty to the Jennings by screening the seats behind home plate; and (2) that the Jennings impliedly assumed the risk that caused their injury. CP 10-11.

The Jennings argued that the Mariners owed them a duty of reasonable care and not a "limited" duty. CP 157-58. Further, the Jennings argued that implied assumption of risk did not support summary judgment because the record contained sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of fact regarding the Mariners' negligence. Id. The issues of fact concerning implied assumption of risk were also addressed. CP 169-172.

The trial court granted the Mariners' motion from the bench without a written decision. This appeal was timely taken following the entry of an order granting summary judgment on January 24, 2014. CP 401 (Order); CP 398 (Notice of Appeal).

2. The Parties

Respondent is the Baseball Club of Seattle, leasee of Safeco Field and owner of the Mariners baseball team. CP 5. Appellants are Teresa Reed-Jennings (hereinafter "Teresa") and Cliff Jennings (hereinafter "Cliff"), wife and husband. CP 179, 218. Cliff is a police officer for the City of Bellingham, CP 219, and Teresa is a civil engineer. CP 180.

3. The Jennings' injury during pre-game batting practice

Cliff purchased tickets to Mariners home games through the police association, seeing one game a year for the six or seven years preceding 2009. CP 220-22. In this fashion, Cliff obtained four tickets to attend the Mariners game against the Texas Rangers at Safeco Field on the evening

of May 4, 2009. CP 181. With the extra tickets the Jennings invited Teresa's sister, Sharon, and her husband, Ray. CP 182.

The four planned to arrive early to Safeco Field because of Sharon's interest in seeing batting practice. CP 183, 223. The group drove first to Ivar's restaurant where Teresa consumed one alcoholic beverage with her meal. CP 183-84. After Ivar's, they drove to a parking facility near Safeco Field and entered the stadium, arriving shortly before 6pm. CP 185, 187.

Upon entering, they found their seats in section 116 along the right field foul line. CP 186, 224-225. Cliff took the seat to the left of Teresa, while immediately to her right were Sharon and, next to Sharon, Ray. CP 188, 226. Teresa noticed after taking her seat that players were warming up with running, throwing, and stretching on the field. CP 189-90.

Immediately after sitting Teresa took photographs using her phone. CP 191, 225, 228. The photographs were introduced as exhibits during Teresa's deposition. CP 281-90. Rangers batting practice commenced while photos were being taken, with the group shifting their attention to actively watching "balls get hit." CP 195, 230-231.

After practice commenced, Teresa recalled that a batted ball was hit into the stands that she thought landed to the left of the group, bouncing into their section. CP 196. Cliff did not remember the same

during his deposition. CP 232. Teresa recalled what happened next:

A. We were watching the balls get hit and – and the guy hit the ball and we – because we were watching and following and watching them get caught and the batter hit the ball – and this guy out here was running back up like that to catch the ball because it was a longer ball and then I heard a ball – another ball get hit and I turned my face and it was right there. CP 197-98.

Teresa further explained that, just before the incident, she was watching a player back-pedaling to field a ball. CP 198. The back-pedaling player was located more towards center field but still right in front of section 116. Id. Teresa never saw the player catch the ball; before the ball fell to the ground, she heard the next batted ball. CP 198-99. The crack of the next batted ball caused her to turn her head toward the noise, at which point she was struck in the left eye. CP 199, 280.

Cliff recalled the incident in his deposition:

- **Q.** But after a certain amount of time, you recall seeing following a ball and then hearing a crack and turning to see again?
- A. Right. Because that is what we had been doing, yeah.
- **Q.** And when you turned to watch, that is when you saw a flash and then you heard
 - A. No, when I turned to watch, I heard another crack while that ball was still in the air. That is what caused me to turn back to look and that is when I saw the flash. So ball is in the air, I'm watching, I hear the crack, so I stopped tracking that one, turned to look to pick up the next one and as I am turning, it was just a flash and then another crack.
 - **Q.** And the other crack is the ball hitting your wife?
 - A. That's correct. CP 233.

Teresa estimated that it took the group maybe five minutes to find their seats and that it was less than ten minutes between when the group arrived and the incident. CP 194-95.

She remained conscious after being hit. CP 199. Cliff called to a deputy on the field and requested medical assistance. CP 234. Medical assistance came to her aid and carried her out of the section. CP 199. EMTs then received Teresa and she was transported to Harborview Medical Center. CP 200-01, 280. She has undergone eight surgeries as a result of the injury and a ninth surgery is planned. CP 202. She suffers from permanent vision loss in her left eye and daily pain. CP 204-06.

Teresa started a Twitter account during her recovery to keep in touch with her son Noah in California. CP 207. A portion of the Twitter feed was introduced during Teresa's deposition. CP 208. Teresa's account of the accident on Twitter mirrors her deposition testimony. See generally CP 292-96.

4. The Jennings' knowledge of baseball

Teresa estimated having attended six to ten Mariners' games. CP 212. Of those, she estimated viewing four to six games at Safeco Field. Id. Teresa recalled having seen foul balls go into the stands and was aware that foul balls could reach the stands. CP 213-14. Cliff recalled being at Mariners games where foul balls landed in the stands. CP 235.

Prior to the incident on May 4, 2009, Teresa had never attended a pre-game warm-up or batting practice. CP 279. Cliff testified that, apart from the game on May 4, 2009, he could not recall ever seeing batting practice, but remembered arriving before the start of a game where the players were wrapping up. CP 237.

Teresa did not know that multiple baseballs could be batted into the air simultaneously during batting practice. CP 280. She did not know that batting multiple balls into the air simultaneously was a byproduct of the rhythm of practice. Id. She did not know that a person could be seriously injured or killed by a batted baseball. Id. The screen along the right field foul line, to her left hand side, gave her a sense of protection. Id. She believed she was protecting herself by paying attention to the ball that was batted just prior to the incident. Id.

5. Pre-game batting practice at Safeco Field

For an evening game at Safeco Field that starts at 7:10pm, the Mariners practice batting from approximately 4:30pm to 5:30pm. CP 242, 257, 333-334. The visiting team will then typically practice batting from 5:30pm to 6:15pm. CP 267, 335.

Safeco Field opens to patrons at 4:40pm, where at first attendees

are only allowed in the outfield from Edgar's Cantina to the batter's eye¹. CP 268. At 5:10pm the whole ballpark opens to patrons. Id. Therefore, patrons are not allowed to sit along the right field foul line, including section 116, during the first 40 minutes of the Mariners' batting practice. See Id.

6. Batting Practice Safety at Safeco Field

Dave Hansen is the Mariners' hitting coach. CP 258. During his deposition he testified that, for away games, the team loses 10 to 15 minutes of practice time, so batting practice has to be faster to get in the number of swings. CP 259. Each team's coaches pitch for practice. CP 260. When throwing, the coach picks up four baseballs at a time to keep pace and limit the time between pitches. CP 261, 333-34. Mr. Hansen confirmed that another ball could be thrown to the batter before the previous ball is caught. CP 262. From his experience, the same procedure is followed by other teams in the league. CP 262.

According to the Mariners' third base coach, Jeff Datz, it is unimportant where the baseballs land during batting practice. CP 333-34. Once the player and coach determine how the ball came off the bat, the player resumes his stance and the next pitch is thrown. Id. Mr. Datz described how the rhythm allows players and coaches to anticipate when

¹ The batter's eye is a solid-colored, usually dark area beyond the center field wall.

to move from behind protective screens placed on the field during batting practice. Id. "If the rhythm of the practice becomes disjointed, players and coaches would be exposed to undue risk of injury." Id. No other team conducts batting practice in a materially different way. CP 335.

The Mariners' head groundskeeper is Robert Christofferson. CP 242. For batting practice, Mr. Christofferson's crew sets up the batting cage at home plate and screens at the pitcher's mound, first base, second base, center field, and down each of the left and right field foul lines. CP 243. The screens down the foul lines are meant to stop line drives from entering the adjacent seating. CP 244.

Mr. Christofferson received no formal training for the groundskeeper position. CP 247. He, and the players to some degree, decide on the placement of the screens. CP 248.

When asked about the origin of the base line screens, Mr. Christofferson responded: "Well, it's a combination of, you know, I was asked, and, you know, they just wanted to add a little protection for – a lot of kids down those lines trying to get baseballs." CP 249. In about 2002 the former VP of Ballpark Operations asked Mr. Christofferson to find a removable screen to use along the first and third base lines; no study was conducted into the appropriate size of the screens. CP 249-51. He confirmed that he has seen multiple balls batted into the air simultaneously

during batting practice. CP 250.

Mr. Christofferson's supervisor is Scott Jenkins, the VP of Ballpark Operations. CP 269. Mr. Jenkins verified that Major League Baseball issued a memo to the Mariners in 2012 directing the Mariners to setup screens along the foul ball lines during batting practice. CP 270, 298. Mr. Jenkins confirmed with Mr. Christofferson that the Mariners were in compliance with the Memo's direction at that time. CP 271. Although the Memo encouraged the Mariners to analyze Safeco Field and add more screening where necessary, Mr. Jenkins testified that he "felt when that memo came out that we were adequately protected." CP 272. He could not recall any independent study of patron accidents occurring at Safeco Field. CP 273-74.

Mr. Jenkins testified that the Mariners' discussed, and now employ, nets to catch people who fall when reaching over balconies to catch baseballs. CP 274. Mr. Jenkins also testified that the organization installed a temporary net at Edgar's Cantina just beyond the left field wall to protect bar patrons "knowing that people would have their backs turned being served at the bar and that during batting practice that would be helpful." CP 275. The Cantina net is removed before the game starts. (Id.)

D. ARGUMENT AND BASIS FOR RELIEF

1. Standard of Review - De Novo

Appellate courts review summary judgment orders de novo and perform the same inquiry as the trial court. *Owen v. Burlington N. Santa Fe R.R.*, 153 Wn.2d 780, 788, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005). A trial court must grant summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c).

A defendant can meet its burden by establishing that the plaintiff lacks sufficient evidence to support an essential element of its claim. See Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 n. 1, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). If successful, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to respond with documents allowed by Civil Rule 56(e) setting forth specific facts to show that there is a genuine issue for trial. CR 56(e); Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225-26, 770 P.2d 182. The court must consider all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., 81 Wn.2d 528, 530, 503 P.2d 108 (1972).

2. The duty owed the Jennings by the Mariners must first be settled before addressing primary implied assumption of risk

The Mariners argued two distinct positions in support of its motion for summary judgment. The first position was that it owed only a limited duty to the Jennings to screen behind home plate. The second was that the Jennings impliedly assumed the specific risk that caused their injury, thereby relieving the Mariners of a duty it owed. CP 10-11.

If it is decided that the Mariners only owed the Jennings a limited duty to screen behind home plate, there is no need to consider the arguments for or against the application of primary implied assumption of risk.

The implied assumption of risk doctrine acts to shift a defendant's duty to the plaintiff. Scott v. Pac. W. Mountain Resort, 119 Wn.2d 484, 495, 834 P.2d 6 (1992). If the Mariners only owed a duty to screen behind home plate, then it would not have owed any duty with regards to the risk that caused the Jennings injury. If there is no duty to shift from defendant to plaintiff, there is no need to discuss the doctrine's application. It would simply be a factual question of screening, and here there is no factual dispute that the Mariners provide it behind home plate.

Thus it is necessary to resolve what duty the Mariners owed the Jennings in order to proceed to the assumption of risk doctrine.

3. The Mariners owed the Jennings a duty of care pursuant to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 (1965)

The Mariners owed the Jennings an affirmative duty, pursuant to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 (1965), to repair, safeguard, or warn as reasonably necessary for the Jennings' safety under the circumstances of pre-game batting practice.

a. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 (1965)

Washington looks to the Restatement of Torts for guidance with issues of landowner liability. *Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Mt., Inc.*, 93 Wn.2d 127, 131-32, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980). Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 (1965) describes when a possessor of land is liable to a business invitee for injuries caused by a condition on the land. *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc'y*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 138-39, 875 P.2d 621 (1994); *Maynard v. Sisters of Providence*, 72 Wn. App. 878, 881-82, 866 P.2d 1272 (1994).

Restatement § 343 states:

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm caused to his invitees by a condition on the land if, but only if, [the possessor]

- (a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and
- (b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and
- (c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

The possessor's duty is based on the expectation of the invitee that

the premises have been made safe for his or her use for the purposes of the invitation. *Jarr v. Seeco Constr. Co.*, 35 Wash.App. 324, 326-27, 666 P.2d 392 (1983) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 cmt. b).

b. The Washington Supreme Court adopted § 343 as the duty of care owed by a baseball stadium operator to its patrons

The Washington Supreme Court, in *Leek v. Tacoma Baseball Club*, applied § 343 as the applicable duty of care owed by a stadium operator to a patron. 38 Wn.2d 362, 365-66, 229 P.2d 329 (1951).

In *Leek*, a patron sitting behind the vertical home plate screen was struck by a high foul ball that flew over the top of the screen. *Id* at 363. There was no horizontal overhead screen. *Id*. The issue of a baseball stadium operator's liability was appealed after dismissal by the trial court. *Id*. at 363-64.

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