715453

715453

ORIGINAL

NO. 71545-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

TERESA REED-JENNINGS and **CLIFF JENNINGS**, Wife and
Husband and their marital community,

Appellants/Plaintiffs below,

v.

THE BASEBALL CLUB OF SEATTLE, L.P., a Washington
Corporation, d/b/a **THE SEATTLE MARINERS**,

Respondent/Defendant below.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROCKEY STRATTON, P.S.
Thomas C. Stratton, WSBA 14545
Attorneys for Respondent

200 West Mercer Street, Suite 208
Seattle, WA 98119-3994
(206)223-1688

FILED
SEP -2 11 10:17
CLERK OF COURT
SUPERIOR COURT
JAN 10 2011

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

The *Costa* decision applies to the instant case. The Mariners had no duty to provide a warning regarding the danger of balls leaving the field. Even so, plaintiff's expert Fried acknowledged that the multiple written warnings provided by the Mariners were "an important and key component of a warning system." CP 391 (lines 6–9). Fried could not identify any team that provides additional warnings by the use of ushers, the loud speaker system, the JumboTron or more specific written warnings. CP 379 (lines 1–5); CP 379 (lines 14–19); CP 380 (lines 13–17); CP 392 (lines 11–16).

Here, Reed-Jennings was aware that batting practice was in session and foul balls could be hit to her area. Even though the Mariners had no duty to provide a warning, they did provide warnings on the ticket, on the post leading up to Reed-Jennings' seat, on the section wall, and on the seats directly in front of Reed-Jennings' seat. These warnings said that Reed-Jennings should be alert for "balls" and clearly notified Reed-Jennings that multiple "balls" were in use on the field. Notably, Reed-Jennings claims she never saw any of these warnings, including the warning that was on the back of each and every seat directly in front of her. She offers no explanation for why she would have paid attention to additional warnings.

The Mariners Placed Additional Screens

Reed-Jennings' expert Fried could not identify any other team that used the temporary left and right field screens in 2009. CP 387 (line 19) – CP 388 (line 6). Fried conceded that he did not have any knowledge regarding the number of foul balls that get to the stands after the batting cage, the first base screen, and the right field screens have been installed. CP 385 (lines 1-6). More importantly, Fried acknowledged that he cannot say that the Mariners placement of the right field screens was not the optimum location. As he testified:

Q: All right. Now, do you have any information to show that that's not the optimum location for these screens?

A: No.

CP 393 (lines 17–19). Indeed, the screens have prevented many line drive foul balls from reaching the stands. CP 366 at ¶ 8.

In this case, as in *Leek*, the Mariners only had a duty to provide a screen behind home plate. That screen was provided. The Mariners also provided a batting cage at home plate. It is clear that the Mariners exceeded their duty when they provided screens on the left and right field foul lines in 2009, especially when Major League Baseball did not require such screens until 2012. Reed-Jennings concedes that her claims must be dismissed and that there is no need to even consider the issue of

assumption of the risk if the limited duty rule is applicable because the Mariners clearly satisfied that duty. Brief of Appellants at page 19.⁶

II. Reed-Jennings Assumed the Risk of Being Hit by a Ball in an Unscreened Section of the Stadium

Washington courts have long accepted the proposition that a spectator who takes a seat in the unscreened portion of a stadium assumes the risk of being struck by a baseball. *See Kavafian v. Seattle Baseball Club Ass'n*, 105 Wash. 215, 220, 181 P. 679 (1919). The *Kavafian* court explained:

. . . that balls are very often hit 'foul' and that wild throws sometimes result in the ball falling among the spectators . . .

Id. at 220. Consequently, the court held that a patron who sat in an unscreened portion of the stadium and was struck by a ball had assumed the risk. *Id.*

In *Scott v. Pacific West Mountain Resort*, 119 Wn.2d 484, 834 P.2d 6 (1992), the court held that the defense of "[p]rimary implied assumption of risk continues as a complete bar to recovery after the adoption of comparative negligence laws." *Id.* at 495. The *Scott* court observed:

⁶ Reed-Jennings states in her brief, "If it is decided that the Mariners only owed the Jennings a limited duty to screen behind home plate, there is no need to consider the arguments for or against the application of primary implied assumption of risk." Brief of Appellants at page 19.

Implied *primary* assumption of risk arises where a plaintiff has impliedly consented (often in advance of any negligence by defendant) to relieve defendant of a duty to plaintiff regarding specific *known* and appreciated risks.

Id. at 497 (italics by court). The court reasoned as follows:

[T]he basis of both express and implied primary assumption of risk was the plaintiff's *consent* to the *negation of defendant's duty with regard to those risks assumed*. Since implied primary assumption of the risk *negates duty*, it acts as a bar to recovery when the injury results from one of the risks assumed. As Dean Prosser explains, *primary* implied assumption of risk should continue to be an absolute bar after the adoption of comparative fault because in this form it is a principle of "no duty" and hence no negligence, thus negating the existence of any underlying cause of action.

Id. at 498 (italics by court).

The *Scott* court synthesized all of the confusing and competing threads of prior assumption of risk law into a coherent whole. Repeatedly, *Scott* states that assumption of risk is a complete defense: It is a "**complete bar to recovery**," *id.* at 495, 497 & 498; it is an "**absolute bar**," *id.* at 498, "negating the existence of **any** underlying cause of action," *id.*; and, simply put, "the claim **will be barred**," *id.* at 496 (emphasis added in each quotation). Nowhere does the *Scott* court say that assumption of risk is only a partial defense that must be heard by a jury.

In *Neinstein v. Los Angeles Dodgers Inc.*, 185 Cal.App.3d 176, 229 Cal.Rptr. 612 (1986), the California court explained the policy

reasons for finding that spectators assume the risk of being struck by balls landing in the stands:

The quality of a spectator's experience in witnessing a baseball game depends on his or her proximity to the field of play and the clarity of the view, not to mention the price of the ticket.

As we see it, to permit plaintiff to recover under the circumstances here would force baseball stadium owners to do one of two things: place all spectator areas behind a protective screen thereby reducing the quality of everyone's view, and since players are often able to reach into the spectator area to catch foul balls, changing the very nature of the game itself; or continue the status quo and increase the price of tickets to cover the cost of compensating injured persons with the attendant result that persons of meager means might be "priced out" of enjoying the great American pastime.

To us, neither alternative is acceptable. In our opinion it is not the role of the courts to effect a wholesale remodeling of a revered American institution through application of the tort law.

Id. at 181.

Reed-Jennings argues that she did not have a full subjective understanding of the risk that she might be injured by a foul ball during batting practice. She makes this argument even though she acknowledges that she saw a foul ball land in the row of seats directly in front of her immediately prior to this incident.⁷ She also admits that she saw players

⁷ The fact that a prior ball had landed in Reed-Jennings' section and her admission in her deposition that no screen was placed immediately in front of her prevents Reed-Jennings from contending she thought the right field screens prevented all balls from reaching her. Reed-Jennings Dep. at CP 117 (lines 12-17). See *Marshall v. AC&S Inc.*, 56 Wn. App. 181, 185, 782 P.2d 1107 (1989).

running and throwing balls. CP 151 (lines 8-10). Brief of Appellants at page 11. The record documents that the Texas pitcher would throw the next pitch before the last hit ball would be caught. CP 63 (lines 8-17). Clearly, Reed-Jennings was aware that multiple balls were in use. In any event, with respect to her subjective understanding, the court in *Ridge v. Kladnick*, 42 Wn. App. 785, 713 P.2d 1131 (1986), held that a person is "deemed to have known and understood the risk of such injury where such risk would have been quite clear and obvious to a reasonably careful person under the same or similar circumstances." *Id.* at 787. As the Washington supreme court explained: "Appellant's failure to observe what was plainly there to be observed cannot, however, operate to enlarge respondent's duty of care beyond that which it would otherwise be." *Leek*, 38 Wn.2d at 368-69.

The same arguments now made by Reed-Jennings were rejected by the court in *Taylor v. Baseball Club of Seattle, L.P.*, 132 Wn. App. 32, 130 P.3d 835 (2006). Taylor was injured during pre-game warm-ups at Safeco Field when a Mariners player failed to catch a ball thrown towards her seat along the foul line in right field. *Id.* at 34. Taylor argued that she was not aware that her circumstances posed any risk of injury, that she did not know how players warmed up, and that she never thought about the possibility of being hurt. *Id.* at 36. There were multiple balls in

play at the time of Taylor's injury. *Id.* at 41. Taylor also maintained that the Mariners should have had a policy prohibiting pitchers from practicing near the stands. *Id.* at 36.

The Court of Appeals held that pregame warm-up is integral to the game of baseball and that a spectator assumes the risk of being struck by a baseball during warm-ups. *Id.* at 37, 39. The court noted that there was no evidence that the circumstances leading to Taylor's injury were unusual. *Id.* at 40. It was undisputed that the practice being conducted by the pitchers was normal baseball practice. *Id.* The *Taylor* court rejected Taylor's argument and found Taylor assumed the risk of being hit by a ball during practice because Taylor had witnessed balls entering stands and was excited to be in an area where she could catch balls. *Id.* at 40-41.

Likewise, in the present case, the Texas Rangers' batting practice was being conducted in normal fashion and Reed-Jennings assumed the risk of a ball entering the stands.⁸ Practice always has more than one ball in play. As explained by Coach Datz, there are coaches hitting to infielders and outfielders as well as players throwing to each other. CP 135 at ¶ 8. To accept the argument that the risk cannot be assumed when

⁸ Reed-Jennings can also offer no basis for holding the Mariners responsible for the actions of the Texas pitcher and Texas batter. It is undisputed that the Mariners did not have control over how Texas conducted batting practice. CP 136 at ¶ 11.

more than one ball is in use would eliminate assumption of risk as a defense during practice and during the warmups between innings.

Other jurisdictions have repeatedly held that warm-ups are integral to the game of baseball and the spectator assumes the risk of being struck by the baseball. In *Dalton v. Jones, et al.*, 260 Ga.App. 791, 581 S.E.2d 360 (2003), the court held that a spectator assumes the risk of a ball being thrown into the stands during warm-up between innings. On June 6, 2000, Dalton attended an Atlanta Braves baseball game held at Turner Field. *Id.* at 361. Dalton had a seat in an unprotected area of the stadium. *Id.* at 362. Between innings, two Braves players were pitching the ball back and forth to each other after coming back onto the field. *Id.* When it was time for a player on the other team to hit, professional baseball player Andruw Jones threw a ball into the stands at about the time Dalton was just standing up to go and get a soda. *Id.* Dalton did not see the ball coming toward her and sustained a permanent eye injury. *Id.* at 361-62.

Dalton filed a negligence action against Jones and the Atlanta Braves. *Id.* at 361. She alleged that Jones was negligent in throwing a baseball in the stands between innings of the game. *Id.* She also asserted that the Atlanta Braves were negligent by failing to properly educate and train their players as to the potential danger of such acts and for failing to

provide equipment in the stands to protect the spectators. *Id.* The trial court granted summary judgment to defendants. *Id.* The appellate court upheld the summary judgment dismissal, stating:

One who buys a ticket for the purpose of witnessing a baseball game and who chooses or accepts a seat in a portion of the grandstand which his own observation will readily inform him is unprotected, voluntarily assumes the risk inherent in such a position, since he must be presumed to know that there is a likelihood of wild balls being thrown and landing in the grandstand or other unprotected areas.

Id. at 362 (citations omitted). The court went on to note:

Whether the ball was thrown or tossed during an inning of play or between innings lacks legal significance because, as the trial court noted, "this throw occurred during a time which was necessary to the playing of the game, during which time the Plaintiff has assumed the risk of injury from bats, balls, and other missiles."

Id.

The same conclusion was reached by the court in *Hunt v. Thomasville Baseball Co.*, 80 Ga.App. 572, 56 S.E.2d 828 (1949). Hunt purchased a ticket and occupied a seat in the grandstand, which was not protected by a screen. *Id.* at 829. During the warm-up period preceding the game, one of the players threw a baseball that was too high to be caught and the ball entered the stands, striking Hunt. *Id.* Hunt brought suit against the Thomasville Baseball Company, alleging that it knew that a wildly thrown ball could injure a spectator. *Id.* The trial court dismissed the complaint. *Id.*

The appellate court upheld the dismissal, stating that the spectator "subjects himself to the dangers necessarily and usually incident to and inherent in the game." *Id.* The appellate court rejected Hunt's contention that preliminary practice is not part of the game, concluding that warm-up is necessary to the playing of the game itself. *Id.* at 830.

Other courts have all concluded that warm-up is part of the inherent risk of baseball. In *Zeitz v. Cooperstown Baseball Centennial*, 31 Misc.2d 142, 29 N.Y.S.2d 56 (1941), the court considered facts similar to the instant case. In *Zeitz*, the stadium owner had provided a screen behind home plate. *Id.* at 56-57. Beyond the screened area toward first base, there were a series of open grandstands which were not screened. *Id.* at 57. *Zeitz* purchased tickets for the open grandstand. *Id.* At the time *Zeitz* entered the grandstand, the teams were engaged in preliminary practice with five or six different balls in play. *Id.* One team was warming up within 14 feet of where *Zeitz* was sitting. *Id.* *Zeitz* noticed the players throwing and decided to change seats. *Id.* While in the act of changing her seat, *Zeitz* was struck by a thrown baseball. *Id.*

Zeitz filed an action against the baseball club, alleging that it had not properly supervised the players. *Id.* The baseball club argued that *Zeitz* had assumed all risks incidental to the game. *Id.*

Zeitz conceded that she had assumed all risks necessarily incident to the game of baseball but argued that preliminary practice is not part of the game and was not an incidental risk associated with the game. *Id.* at 57-58. The court rejected Zeitz's contention, holding that, by sitting in the unprotected bleachers, she had assumed all risks, including the risks associated with players during preliminary practice:

The plaintiff concedes that she assumed all the risks necessarily incident to the game of baseball, but her position is that preliminary practice is not a part of the game and hence, not an incidental risk of it. In other words, the injuries were not received in the course of the game while being played and the ball was not batted or thrown by players in their usual position in the game. I do not see much logic in that. Preliminary practice or 'warming up' is a necessary part of every ball game. It is indulged in by the players generally, preliminary to every game when many balls are in use at the same time.

Id. at 57-58. See also *Koenig v. Town of Huntington*, 10 A.D.3d 632, 782 N.Y.S.2d 92, 93 (2004) (spectator assumed risk of being injured by ball coming from adjacent field); *Alwin v. St. Paul Saints Baseball Club, Inc.*, 672 N.W.2d 570, 574 (2003) (spectator assumed risk of being hit by baseball even when he could not see the baseball because he was walking near a concession stand).

Although not raised in the brief of appellants, Reed-Jennings attempted to argue at summary judgment that a 1925 Ohio case, *Cincinnati Baseball Club Co. v. Eno*, 112 Ohio St. 175, 147 N.E. 86

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